SUPREME COURT NO. _____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SAN DIEGANS FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT,
Petitioner and Plaintiff,

v.

**PUBLIC FACILITIES FINANCING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY
OF SAN DIEGO, ET AL.**
Respondent and Defendant.

After Decision of the Court of Appeal,
Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D069751

San Diego County Superior Court
The Honorable Joan M. Lewis
Case No. 37-2015-00016536-CU-MC-CTL

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARA W. ELLIOTT, City Attorney, City of San Diego
GEORGE SCHAEFER, Assistant City Attorney
MEGHAN ASHLEY WHARTON, Chief Deputy City Attorney
California State Bar No. 250498

OFFICE OF THE SAN DIEGO CITY ATTORNEY
Civil Division

INTRODUCTION

Petitioners City of San Diego and its affiliated entities ("City" and collectively "Petitioners") respectfully petition the Supreme Court of California for review of the Fourth District Court of Appeal's published Opinion in *San Diegans for Open Government v. Public Facilities Financing Authority of the City of San Diego*, 16 Cal.App.5th 1273 (2017) filed November 9, 2017¹ (the "Opinion") reversing the trial court ruling that Appellant/Plaintiff San Diegans for Open Government ("SDOG") lacks standing under Government Code section 1090 ("Section 1090") and Government Code section 1092 ("Section 1092") to bring a claim to invalidate a public entity transaction.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a taxpayer group have direct standing² under Section 1090 and Section 1092 to bring an action to challenge the validity of a public entity transaction for an alleged violation of Section 1090?

SUMMARY OF THE PETITION

The Supreme Court should grant review in this case to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important question of law of statewide importance. Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1). To summarize, the published Opinion conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeal, fundamentally confounds basic principles of statutory construction and

¹ Pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.504(b)(4) and (e)(1)(A), a true and correct copy of the Opinion bearing the date it was entered is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. The page numbers used herein refer to the version of the Opinion attached as Exhibit 1.

² Direct standing refers to independent standing in one's own name. In contrast, representational standing is standing to sue in the name of the public entity involved in the transaction, including standing under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a.

opens the floodgates for those citizens rebuffed by the political process to abuse the State's court system to halt or delay local government transactions they disagree with. Further, the action is particularly appropriate for Supreme Court review because the Supreme Court can resolve the legal dispute in question based on a set of uncomplicated and undisputed facts.

First, the Opinion directly conflicts with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's Decision in *San Bernardino County v. Superior Court*, 239 Cal.App.4th 679 (2015), *review denied* (Nov. 24, 2015), *request to depublish denied* (Nov. 24, 2015) ("*San Bernardino*"). In *San Bernardino*, the Court of Appeal found that a taxpayer does not have standing under Section 1092 to sue to invalidate a contract alleged to violate Section 1090. The subject Opinion finds the exact opposite. There is no way the two decisions can be reconciled. Therefore, the Supreme Court's review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision in the State.

Second, this Court should grant review because the Opinion is clearly inconsistent with the plain language of Section 1090 and Section 1092. Without analysis, the Opinion adopts an erroneous construction of Section 1092 that (a) has been squarely rejected by Division Three of the Fourth District Court of Appeal; and (b) is unsupported by the California canons of statutory construction.

Third, the Supreme Court should grant review of this case because the case involves an important question of law that is of great interest to local government entities and persons that do business with them throughout the State. Importantly, the Opinion does not just open the door for disgruntled taxpayers to halt a public entity's actions on a challenged transaction or otherwise interfere with the business of the local government

entity. The Opinion and the issues presented by this case also impact the thousands of non-government parties who have in the past or will in the future enter into contracts with local government entities throughout the State. Under the published Opinion, those contracts, no matter how distant in the past, may now be subject to challenge and effectively frozen in time on even the most specious grounds alleged by disgruntled taxpayers given a private right of action under Section 1090 and Section 1092.

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS

On March 17, 2015, the City of San Diego adopted San Diego Ordinance No. O-20469 and PFFA Resolution No. FA-2015-2 authorizing the issuance of the 2015 Refunding Bonds to refund and refinance the remaining amount owed by the City on the 2007 bond issuance relating to the remaining debt for the construction of Petco Park ("2015 Refunding Bond Approvals" and "2015 Refunding Bond Issuance"). 1 AA 16/186:2-5. Pursuant to the 2015 Refunding Bond approvals, the following entities would serve in the following described roles for purposes of the 2015 Refunding Bond Issuance:

- a. Outside Financial Advisor to the City – Public Resources Advisory Group
- b. Bond and Disclosure Counsel – Nixon Peabody LLP
- c. Bond Trustee – Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
- d. Lead Underwriter – RBC Capital Markets
- e. Other members of the Underwriter Syndicate – BofA Merrill Lynch, William Blair, Stern Brothers & Co.
- f. Underwriter's Counsel – Sidley Austin LLP

1 AA 12/131:1-13.

Neither SDOG nor any of its members are or will be a party to any of the various transactions that will make up the 2015 Refunding Bond Issuance. 1 AA 12/131:14-16.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Just prior to the start of trial, the trial court took up the initial question of whether SDOG has direct standing to assert a claim to invalidate or void the 2015 Refunding Bond Approvals under Section 1090 Section 1092. 1 AA 106/Ex. 1 at 188. After expedited briefing, the trial court ruled that SDOG did not have standing to bring a claim to challenge the validity of the 2015 Refunding Bond Approvals under Section 1090. 1 AA 16/Ex. 1 at 187:15-17. The trial court's decision rejecting SDOG's claim to direct standing to bring the Section 1090 Claim was soundly grounded in the Court of Appeal's interpretation of sections 1090 and 1092 in *San Bernardino*. 1 AA 16/Ex. 1 at 188-89. In the Opinion, the Court of Appeal overturned the trial court's decision on standing.

DISCUSSION

I. REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION BECAUSE THE OPINION IS IN CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION AND ANALYSIS IN *SAN BERNARDINO*

The Supreme Court should grant review of the Opinion to ensure clarity and uniformity on the fundamental issue of who has direct standing to bring a claim to void a public entity transaction under Section 1090 and Section 1092. Can a taxpayer or taxpayer group bring a direct action in its own name to challenge a contract under Section 1090 if the taxpayer is not a "party" to the transaction as Section 1092 seems to require? The Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* answered this question in the negative; in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal answers the question in the affirmative.

The Opinion conflicts with *San Bernardino* in its final holding and on several points of analysis. In fact, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal expressly casts aside the decision in *San Bernardino* when it states that "we do not agree with the limited interpretation of section 1092 adopted in *San Bernardino*." Op. at 14. For this reason, this Court should grant review to secure uniformity of decision in the State.

A. The Opinion and *San Bernardino* reach Conflicting Conclusions on the Question of Direct Standing under Section 1090 and Section 1092 after Conflicting Analyses

The *San Bernardino* case involved a decision of the County of San Bernardino to enter into a settlement agreement in an inverse condemnation matter. *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 682. The county then brought a validation action and obtained a judgment declaring the settlement agreement and the bonds issued to satisfy the judgment valid. *Id.* at 682-83. Five years later, a taxpayer organization sought to void the settlement agreement in an action brought under Section 1090 based on allegations that a county supervisor received bribes from the landowner in exchange for his vote to approve the settlement agreement. *Id.* at 683. The plaintiff taxpayer organization in *San Bernardino* alleged three grounds for standing: (a) direct standing under Section 1090 and Section 1092; (b) indirect standing under Code of Civil Procedure Section 526a ("Section 526a"); and (c) indirect standing under the common law. *Id.* at 683. As to direct standing under Section 1090 and Section 1092, the *San Bernardino* Court found that only a party to a challenged contract has direct standing to challenge a transaction for an alleged violation of Section 1090. *Id.* at 684.

1. In the Opinion, the Court of Appeal Construes Section 1092 to Mean the Opposite of the Meaning Given by the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino*

Section 1090 mandates that public officials "shall not be financially interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity, or by any body or board of which they are members." Section 1090 does not by itself authorize a cause of action to sue for a violation. Instead, Section 1092 contains the language that authorizes a cause of action: "Every contract made in violation of any of the provisions of Section 1090 may be avoided at the instance of any party except the officer interested therein."

In reaching its decision on direct standing, the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* engaged in a thorough exercise of statutory construction to determine the Legislature's intent in adopting Section 1090 and Section 1092. *Id.* Of all the cases discussed by the Court of Appeal in the Opinion, *San Bernardino* is the only decision where the Court of Appeal performed the exercise of statutory construction to determine the meaning of the term "any party" as used in Section 1092. *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 684.

Construing Section 1092, the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* found that only a party to a challenged contract has direct standing to bring a cause of action challenging a public entity contract for an alleged violation of Section 1090. *Id.* at 684. In reaching its decision on direct standing, the Court of Appeal first sought to determine the Legislature's intent in crafting Section 1090 and Section 1092. *Id.* at 684-85. The Court of Appeal found that nothing in the plain language of either section 1090 or section 1092 suggests that the Legislature intended to grant nonparties to a contract, such as taxpayers, the right to sue to challenge a transaction for an

alleged violation of section 1090. *Id.* at 684. The Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* supported its conclusion on this point by noting that "the Legislature's choice to use the word 'party' in Section 1092 – as opposed to, say, 'person' – suggests the Legislature intended only parties to the contract at issue" to have standing to challenge contracts allegedly made in violation of section 1090. *Id.* at 684.

In contrast, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal reaches the exact opposite conclusion as to the meaning of Section 1092 without any attempt at statutory construction to determine the meaning of the term "any party" as used in Section 1092. Further, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal completely disregards the statutory construction of Section 1092 given by the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino*, and simply states, without explanation: "In any event, we do not agree with the limited interpretation of section 1092 adopted by the court in *San Bernardino*." Op. at p. 14. On the other hand, the Opinion focuses extensively on the policy behind Section 1090 which is not in dispute in this case. Op. at pp. 3-7.

Then, without analysis of the words of the provision or discussion of the California canons of statutory interpretation, the Court of Appeal declares that "we interpret section 1092's reference to 'any party' to include any litigant with an interest in the subject contract sufficient to support standing." Op. at pp. 14-15. The Court of Appeal goes on to hold that standing under Section 1092 is broadly conferred on taxpayers within the local government jurisdiction who would otherwise have standing to bring a reverse validation action under Code of Civil Procedure section 863 or a representative action in the name of the public entity under Section 526a. Op. at p. 15.

In declaring the meaning of the term "any party" in Section 1092, the Court of Appeal simply casts aside the decision and reasoning of the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 684. Instead of relying on the sound reasoning of the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino*, the Court of Appeal Opinion declared the meaning of the term "any party" without first performing the analysis required by California's canons of statutory construction to determine the Legislature's intent in adopting the statute. Op. at pp. 14-15. Proper application of the California canons of statutory construction yields a statutory construction consistent with the decision of Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* that the "Legislature intended only parties to the contract at issue. . . to have the right to sue to avoid contracts made in violation of section 1090." *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 684.

Importantly, other than *San Bernardino*, not one of the other decisions referenced in the Opinion includes an exercise of statutory construction to determine the Legislature's intent in using the term "any party" in Section 1092. In fact, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal acknowledges that a number of the cases cited as the "weight of authority [that] plainly finds that standing to assert section 1090 claims goes beyond the parties to a public contract" actually only mention the issue of standing in passing and/or without analysis. Op. at p. 14. For example, the Court of Appeal in the Opinion recognizes that *Thomson v. Call*, 38 Cal.3d 633, 646 (1985), "assumed, without discussion, that the taxpayers had standing to bring a section 1090 challenge to the transaction." Op. at p. 7. Similarly, the Court of Appeal acknowledges that the decision as to standing in *Davis v.*

Fresno Unified Sch. Dist., 237 Cal.App.4th 261, 297 n.20 (2015), "is plainly dicta." Op. at p. 8.

Further, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal acknowledges that the four other decisions the Court of Appeal cites in support of its interpretation of the term "any party" in Section 1092 contain only "unspoken assumptions" on the question of the meaning of Section 1092. Op. at p. 8 (citing *Stigall v. City of Taft*, 58 Cal.2d 565, 570-71 (1962), *Gilbane Bldg. Co. v. Super. Ct.*, 223 Cal.App.4th 1527, 1531 (2014), *Finnegan v. Schrader*, 91 Cal.App.4th 572, 579 (2001), and *Terry v. Bender*, 143 Cal.App.2d 198, 204 (1956).

Finally, the Court of Appeal acknowledges in the Opinion that two of the recent decisions that purportedly "*directly* considered the issue of standing to bring an action under section 1090" [Op. at p. 9] made such a finding only in reliance on the outcomes in *Thomson* and *Davis*, neither of which analyzed the Legislature's intent in using the term "any party" in any way. Op. at pp. 11-12 (noting that the Court in *McGee v. Balfour Beatty Constr., LLC*, 247 Cal.App.4th 235, 247-48 (2016), relied on *Davis* and *Thomson* to allow taxpayer standing to sue under Section 1092), p. 12-13 (noting that the Court in *California Taxpayers Action Network v. Taber Constr., Inc.*, 12 Cal.App.5th 115, 144-45 (2017) ("*CTAN*"), relied on *Davis* and *McGee* to allow taxpayer standing to sue under Section 1092).

2. In the Opinion, the Court of Appeal Gives Considerable Weight to Authorities Distinguished by the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino*

In addition to statutory interpretation, the Courts of Appeal in the *San Bernardino* decision and the present Opinion both examine several of the same cases cited by the parties in the briefing. *San Bernardino*, 239

Cal.App.4th at 684-85, Op. at pp. 7-8, 13-14. As to each of these authorities, the *San Bernardino* decision distinguished the authority while the Opinion relied on the authority to support its final ruling.

For example, the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* rejected *Terry v. Bender* as authority for direct standing because the case concerns representational standing – an action in the name of the public entity – and not direct standing. *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 684 (discussing *Terry v. Bender*, 143 Cal.App.2d 198, 207 (1956)). The Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* noted that "[n]othing in the *Terry* opinion is reasonably interpreted to contemplate Government Code section 1090 as an independent source of plaintiffs' standing." *Id.* at 207.

In contrast, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal gives considerable weight to *Terry* as authority to find in favor of taxpayer standing "to challenge government contracts on the grounds they violated section 1090." Op. at p. 8 (citing *Terry*, 143 Cal.App.2d at 204). Unlike the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino*, the Court of Appeal in the Opinion gives weight to *Terry* despite the fact that the case did not concern a claim to direct standing under Section 1092. Op. at pp. 8, 13. Unlike *San Bernardino*, the Opinion simply ignored the fact that *Terry* was brought by plaintiffs in the name of the public entity pursuant to Code of Civil procedure section 526a.³ *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 684.

³ Under Section 526a, a taxpayer lawsuit to challenge a local government transaction is authorized only if the local government entity has a duty to act to challenge the transaction and refuses to do so. *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 686 (citations omitted). If the local government has discretion to act and chooses not to, the courts are not permitted to interfere with the decision, and no taxpayer action will lie to invalidate or void the transaction. *Id.* at 686.

Likewise, the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* rejected *Gilbane Building Company v. Superior Court*, as authority for direct standing because the "plaintiff organization had associational standing under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a." *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 684-85 (discussing *Gilbane Bldg. Co. v. Super. Ct.*, 223 Cal.App.4th 1527, 1531 (2014)). In *Gilbane*, a taxpayer group brought an action alleging that certain construction firms including defendant *Gilbane* provided gifts to officials of a high school district in exchange for construction contracts. *Gilbane*, 223 Cal.App.4th at 1529. The action was brought as one for declaratory relief and constructive trust under Section 526a. *Id.* at 1530. The Court of Appeal in *Gilbane* allowed for taxpayer standing under Section 526a and then allowed the plaintiff to assert a Section 1090 legal theory in the action. The Court of Appeal in *Gilbane* effectively converted the plaintiff's action into solely an action brought in the name of the public entity. *Id.* at 1532. *San Bernardino* rightfully distinguished the *Gilbane* decision because the decision did not concern the question of direct taxpayer standing to sue under Section 1090 and Section 1092. *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 684-85.

The Opinion acknowledges the limitations of the *Gilbane* decision then inexplicably goes on to consider *Gilbane* as authority supporting the proposition that direct standing exists for taxpayers under Section 1090. Op. at pp. 9, 13. Once again, the Opinion relied on authority that was distinguished by the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino*. This is further evidence of the conflict between the two decisions.

The Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* rejected *Thomson v. Call* and *Finnegan v. Schrader* as authority for taxpayer standing under Section 1090 and Section 1092. *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 684-85

(discussing *Thomson v. Call*, 38 Cal.3d 633, 638-39 (1985) ("*Thomson*") and *Finnegan v. Schrader*, 91 Cal.App.4th 572, 579 (2001)). In *San Bernardino*, the Court of Appeal rejected these decisions as authority on the legal issue in question because "[n]either case . . . contains any discussion of standing." *Id.* 684-86.

In contrast, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal gives substantial weight to *Thomson* and *Finnegan*. Op. at 7-8, 13. (citing *Thomson*, 38 Cal. 3d at 652 and *Finnegan*, 91 Cal.App.4th at 579). For example, the Court of Appeal in the Opinion acknowledges that "*Thomson* assumed, without discussion, that the taxpayers had standing to bring a section 1090 challenge to the transaction." Op. at p. 7 (citing *Thomson*, 38 Cal. 3d at 646). Unfortunately, the Court of Appeal then goes on to adopt this statement from *Thomson* as law without any further analysis of the statutory language of Section 1090 and Section 1092. Op. at p. 7. Similarly, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal relies on *Finnegan* despite the fact that the issue of standing was not once discussed in the decision. *Finnegan*, 91 Cal.App.4th 572. Op. at pp. 8, 13.

Finally, after the plaintiffs in *San Bernardino* brought to the Court's attention the decision in *Davis v. Fresno Unified School District* at oral argument, the Court of Appeal rejected *Davis* as authority because "the issue of standing was not before the Court, as it was not raised by the parties." *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 685 n.5 (discussing *Davis v. Fresno Unified Sch. Dist.*, 237 Cal.App.4th 261, 297 n.20 (2015)). The *Davis* opinion itself notes that Defendant's demurrer was not brought on the basis of standing, and it was the ruling on demurrer that was before the Court of Appeal. *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 685 n.5. In *Davis*, the sum total of the discussion of standing in the decision is contained in a

single brief footnote. *Davis*, 237 Cal.App.4th at 297 n.20. The Court of Appeal's perfunctory statement on standing in *Davis* in the footnote is merely an assumption – without analysis – that the term "any party" as used in Section 1092 confers broad taxpayer standing to sue to void a transaction for a violation of Section 1090. *Id.* In *Davis*, the Court of Appeal made this assumption and then cited to *Thomson* as the authority for the proposition. *Id.* The Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino* rightfully rejected *Davis* as authority on the issue of standing under Section 1090 and Section 1092 on this ground. *San Bernardino*, 239 Cal.App.4th at 685 n.5 ("To the extent this dictum may be read as treating Government Code section 1090 as an independent source of standing . . . it relies on the same reading of *Thomson* that we reject in this opinion. We do not find that interpretation persuasive and decline to adopt it.").

In contrast, in the Opinion, the Court of Appeal incorrectly gives considerable weight to the dicta in the *Davis* decision. Op. pp. 8, 13-15. While the Opinion notes that *Davis* touched on this issue only in dicta, the Court of Appeal goes on to reference *Davis* as part of the "weight of authority" that allows the Court of Appeal in the Opinion to extend standing under Section 1092 beyond the parties to the transaction. Opinion at pp. 8, 14.

Finally, the Opinion fails to distinguish *San Bernardino* from the case at hand. The only distinction between the two cases drawn by the Court of Appeal in the Opinion is that *San Bernardino* involved a challenge to a contract that had previously been validated and this case did not. Op. at pp. 13-14. However, the Opinion fails to explain how this single difference is grounds for the Court of Appeal to cast aside the reasoned analysis of the

meaning of Section 1092 and relevant case law set forth by the Court of Appeal in *San Bernardino*. *Id.*

B. The Opinion and *San Bernardino* are the only Decisions that Address Direct Standing to Sue under Section 1090 and Section 1092

In this case, the Court of Appeal bases the Opinion, in part, on the claim that "the weight of authority plainly finds that standing to assert section 1090 claims goes beyond the parties to a public contract." Op. at 14. However, of all the decisions discussed in the Opinion, *San Bernardino* is the only decision that addressed the question of direct standing to sue under Section 1090 and Section 1092 in a meaningful way. All of the other cases referenced in the Opinion in support of standing dealt with claims of representational standing to bring an action in the name of the public entity or rely on such cases. In fact, several of the cases relied upon by Court of Appeal in the Opinion were correctly distinguished by the Court in *San Bernardino* precisely because they involve questions of representational standing to bring an action under section 526a and not an individual right - direct standing - to bring an action under section 1090 and 1092.

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