S245996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SAN DIEGANS FOR OPEN GOVERNMENT,

Plaintiff, Appellant, and Respondent,

٧.

PUBLIC FACILITIES FINANCING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, et al.,

Defendants, Respondents, and Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE D069751

Cory J. Briggs, Esq. (SBN 176284) Anthony N. Kim, Esq. (SBN 283353) BRIGGS LAW CORPORATION 99 East "C" Street, Suite 111 Upland, CA 91786

Tel.: 909.949.7115 Fax: 909.949.7121 John Morris, Esq. (SBN 99075)
Rachel E. Moffitt, Esq. (SBN 307822)
HIGGS FLETCHER & MACK LLP
401 West "A" Street, Suite 2600
San Diego, CA 92101

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

DISCUSSION

A. Review Is Necessary to Secure Uniformity of Decision

1. Conflict of Interest Law

The statute primarily at issue in this case, section 1090, provides in relevant part, "Members of the Legislature, state, county, district, judicial district, and city officers or employees shall not be financially interested in any contract made by them in their official capacity, or by any body or board of which they are members." (Gov. Code, § 1090, subd. (a).) In essence, the statute "codifies the long-standing common law rule that barred public officials from being personally financially interested in the contracts they formed in their official capacities," and thereby recognizes the truism that a person cannot serve two masters simultaneously. (Lexin v. Superior Court (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1050, 1072.) "The evil to be thwarted by section 1090 is easily identified: If a public official is pulled in one direction by his financial interest and in another direction by his official duties, his judgment cannot and should not be trusted, even if he attempts impartiality." (*Id.* at p. 1073.)

Furthermore, section 1092 provides a remedy for violations of section 1090; it provides: "Every contract made in violation of [section 1090] may be avoided at the instance of *any party* except the officer interested therein." (Gov. Code, § 1092, subd. (a), italics added.)

As relevant here, Petitioners argue that, pursuant to section 1092 (as interpreted in *San Bernardino*), only a "party" to the challenged transaction has standing to pursue a section 1090 challenge. But published decisions coming both before and after *San Bernardino* have come to the opposite conclusion. (See Opinion, p. 7.)

2. Case Law Pre-San Bernardino

While section 1090 was enacted in 1943, only recently has the issue of standing been directly litigated. In *Thomson*, for example, decided in 1985, the California Supreme Court assumed, without discussion, that the taxpayer plaintiffs had standing to bring an action pursuant to section 1090. (*Thomson v. Call* (1985) 38 Cal.3d 633, 646-649. See also *Terry v. Bender* (1956) 143 Cal.App.2d 198, 204; *Finnegan v. Shrader* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 572, 579; *Stigall v. City of Taft* (1962) 58 Cal.2d 565, 570-571 [where, in addition to assuming taxpayer standing, the California Supreme Court held the policy underlying section 1090 was so fundamental it applied even when the party who received the challenged contract was the lowest bidder, was not a member of the city council when the bid was accepted, and only participated in preliminary approvals of the project at issue].)

And later, in *Davis*, decided in 2015, the Fifth District Court of Appeal found that, pursuant to section 1092, any contract made in violation of section 1090 could be avoided by "any party." (*Davis v.*

Fresno Unified School District (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261, 297.) The court then stated, albeit in dicta: "The term 'any party' is not restricted to parties to the contract. Defendants did not base their demurrer on the ground Davis lacked standing to bring the conflict of interest claim under ... section 1090 since it is recognized that either the public agency or a taxpayer may seek relief for a violation of section 1090." (Id. at p. 297, fn. 20, citations omitted. See also Gilbane Building Co. v. Superior Court (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 1527, 1531 ["Taxpayers may sue under section 1090 in order to have improper contracts declared void."].)

The assumption in *Thomson* and the dicta in *Davis* are consistent with the unspoken assumptions of cases throughout the state: "In each of those cases, taxpayers were permitted to challenge government contracts on the grounds they violated section 1090." (Opinion, p. 8.)

3. San Bernardino County v. Superior Court

More recently, courts have *directly* addressed the issue of standing, and "have reached somewhat conflicting conclusions." (Opinion, p. 9.)

For example, one month after *Davis* was decided, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division Two, decided *San Bernardino*, the case Petitioners have relied on heavily throughout this litigation. (*San Bernardino County v. Superior Court* (2015) 239 Cal.App.4th 679.) There, a group of taxpayers challenged a settlement agreement between the county and a property owner with respect to property taken by the

county as part of a regional flood control project. (*Id.* at p. 682.) Under the terms of the agreement, the county agreed to pay \$102 million for the land. (*Id.*) And, significantly, the county thereafter obtained a judgment validating the agreement. (*Id.* at pp. 682-683.) Five years later, the plaintiff taxpayers brought an action under section 1090, in which they alleged that certain campaign contributions (which the property owner had made to a former county supervisor) were in fact *bribes* given in exchange for a vote to approve the settlement agreement. (*Id.*)

In a writ proceeding, the Fourth District Court of Appeal found that the plaintiff taxpayers did not have standing to challenge the settlement because, while section 1092 provides that "[e]very contract made in violation of [section] 1090 may be avoided at the instance of any party except the officer interested therein," the taxpayers were not *parties* to the contract, meaning section 1092 did not provide them with standing to sue. The court stated: "Nothing in the plain language of either section 1090 or section 1092 grants nonparties to the contract, such as plaintiffs, the right to sue" "Indeed," the court went on, "the Legislature's choice of the word 'party' in section 1092—as opposed to, say 'person'—suggests the Legislature intended only parties to the contract at issue normally have the right to sue to avoid contracts made in violation of section 1090." (*Id.* at p. 684.)

4. Case Law Post-San Bernardino

In *McGee*, decided in 2016, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Eight, *disagreed* with *San Bernardino* and found that taxpayers indeed had standing to sue pursuant to section 1090. (*McGee v. Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC* (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 235, 247-248.) With respect to the issue of standing, the court in *McGee* looked to both *Thomson* and *Davis*, and distinguished *San Bernardino* on the grounds that, unlike the proceedings in *San Bernardino*, the plaintiffs in *McGee* filed their reverse-validation complaint *before* the disputed contract had been performed. (*Id.* at p. 248 ["As in *Davis*, this case involved a validation action In contrast, in *San Bernardino*, plaintiffs' challenge to the agreement was barred by a prior validation judgment."].)

The court then further explained: "[I]n contrast to the *San Bernardino* court, we find *Thomson* . . . apposite as our high court could not have concluded a contract was invalid in violation of section 1090 without implicitly concluding that the taxpayers challenging it had standing to challenge it." (*Id.*)

Similarly, in *Taber*, decided in 2017, the First District Court of Appeal, Division Two, agreed with the reasoning in *Davis* and *McGee*, and found taxpayer standing to bring a section 1090 challenge. (*California Taxpayers Action Network v. Taber Construction, Inc.* (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 115, 144-145.) In disagreeing with, as well as

distinguishing, *San Bernardino*, the court in *Taber* stated: "We conclude that *Davis* and *McGee* are more like this case than *San Bernardino*, and the weight of authority supports permitting a taxpayer to bring a claim under . . . section 1090 under the circumstances here."

5. The Underlying Appeal

As in the cases outlined above—which came both before and after *San Bernardino*—the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, recognized in *this* case that taxpayers and taxpayer organizations have standing to sue pursuant to section 1090. With respect to *San Bernardino*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal explained: "In any event, we <u>do not agree</u> with the limited interpretation of section 1092 adopted by the court in *San Bernardino*." (Opinion, p. 14, emphasis added.) "[T]he weight of authority plainly finds that standing to assert section 1090 claims goes beyond the parties to a public contract . . . [and, therefore,] we interpret section 1092's reference to 'any party' to include any litigant with an interest in the subject contract sufficient to support standing." (Opinion, pp. 14-15.) In other words, the Fourth District Court of Appeal denounced *San Bernardino* and refused to follow it.

Because San Bernardino directly conflicts with published decisions throughout the state—including in the First, Second, Fourth, and Fifth Districts—it is an obvious outlier, and this Court should grant review to

secure uniformity of decision and to harmonize the state of the law with respect to taxpayer standing to sue.

B. Review Is Necessary to Settle an Important Question of Law.

Review is also warranted in this case in order to settle an important question of law which is of statewide consequence. "The important policy embodied in section 1090 requires that its prohibitions be vigorously enforced so that, in addition to punishing actual fraud and public malfeasance, public officials are not even tempted to engage in prohibited activity." (Opinion, p. 4.)

This policy—and the need for "vigorous enforcement"—was fully set out by the California Supreme Court in *Thomson* (discussed above). (*Thomson*, *supra*, 38 Cal.3d at pp. 647-649.) There, the Supreme Court emphasized that the conflict of interest statutes were born from the general principle that "no man can faithfully serve two masters whose interests are or may be in conflict." (*Id.* at p. 647.) "The law, therefore, will not permit one who acts in a fiduciary capacity to deal with himself in his individual capacity" (*Id.* at pp. 647-648.)

This rationale was then reiterated in *Stigall* (also mentioned above), where the Supreme Court explained that the conflict of interest statutes "are concerned with any interest, other than perhaps a remote or minimal interest, which would prevent the officials from exercising absolute loyalty and undivided allegiance to the best interests of the city" (*Stigall*,

supra, 58 Cal.2d at pp. 569-570.) "The statute is thus directed not only at dishonor, but also at conduct that tempts dishonor." (*Id.*)

"This broad proscription embodies a recognition of the fact that an impairment of impartial judgment can occur in even the most well-meaning men when their personal economic interests are affected by the business they transact on behalf of the Government." (*Id.* at p. 570.) "To this extent, therefore, the statute is more concerned with what might have happened in a given situation than with what actually happened. It attempts to prevent honest government agents from succumbing to temptation by making it illegal for them to enter into relationships which are fraught with temptation." (*Id.*, quoting *United States v. Mississippi Valley Generating Co.* (1961) 364 U.S. 520.)

As evidenced by the strict and important policies underlying conflict of interest law—which maintain that "no man can faithfully serve two masters," and which therefore compel the conclusion that the right to sue *must* extend beyond the direct parties to a challenged transaction—review is especially warranted in this case, where the Fourth District Court of Appeal has come to opposite and conflicting conclusions, and where *San Bernardino* all but denounces the important policies which gave birth to the conflict of interest statutes in the first instance.

IV.

CONCLUSION

In sum, San Bernardino is an obvious outlier which has sown (and

will continue to sow) confusion throughout the state, as evidenced by

the published decisions, arising one after another, all coming to the

conclusion that San Bernardino cannot and should not apply.

Throughout *most* of California, taxpayers and taxpayer organizations

have standing to pursue conflict of interest claims pursuant to section

1090, except in the Fourth District, where the courts of appeal are split.

Supreme Court review is therefore warranted and necessary to guide

entities and interested parties all over the state.

For those and all the reasons stated, SDOG respectfully requests

that this Court grant Petitioners' Petition for Review to both secure

uniformity of decision and settle an important question of law.